QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE
10 SELBY STREET
SHENTON PARK WA 6008

QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

Annual Report

2006 — 2007

Excellence in Spinal Injury Management, Care and Rehabilitation



QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE

QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE
10 SELBY STREET
SHENTON PARK WA G008

POSTAL ADDRESS: QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE
PO BOX 257, SUBIACO WA 6904

TELEPHONE: (08) 9381 0145

Providing Excellence
in
Spinal Injury Management, Care and Rehabilitation




QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT

QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE
10 SELBY STREET
SHENTON PARK WA 6008

FIRST MEMORANDUM OF TRANSMITTAL
AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANGCE

TO HON J. McGINTY, MLA,
MINISTER FOR HEALTH

In accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your
information and presentation to Parliament the Report of the Quadriplegic Centre
Board for the financial year ending 30 June, 2007.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the:
Financial Management Act 2006
Disability Services Act 1993
Public Sector Management Act 1994,
Equal Opportunity Act 1984
Freedom of Information Act 1992
Government and Ministerial Annual Reporting Policies; and
Electoral Act 1907
State Records Act 2000

n——

PG le ~ Calluns

Mr R. Dunn, FCA, FAIM, CD Mrs E.B. Greville-Collins
Chairperson Member of the Board
Quadriplegic Centre Quadriplegic Centre
Board of Management Board of Management
Date: Date:



QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE BOARD ANNUAL REPORT

TABLE OF CONTENTS
PART 1
FIRST MEMORANDUM OF TRANSMITTAL.......connrinrninnnnnnnsssnissssss s ssassssnen 3
AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE ...........ooonnmimnninrninnnensrssinsissssssssssssssssssssssasens 3
TABLE OF CONTENTS ..o st s ssssesssssssssssss s ssss ssasssssssssasssasass sasansssnsnans 4
1. OVERVIEW OF AGENCY ..ottt sssnsssssissssssssssnssssasssssssssssasssans 6
1.1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ..oiiiieeteeceeeeesesie st me et sesssssmsssssssss sassssssssssss s en s 6
1.2  OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE ...ttt 8
1.2.1 Enabling Legislation. .....ccceeeenieieece ettt ese et 8
1.2.2 Directions SEALEINENL .......c.ceeeveeeeeceeereeeeeeserrsessetssie st sssssssses e tssssssssssssssssssssssssesssssns 9
1.3 MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE. ...ttt esse e 10
1.3.1  Accountable AUtNOTIEY....ccccceeeeeeeeeeeeceecciessie st st e e ens 10
1.3.2  Table 1 Senior OffiCers.....cccimmiimiisrie ettt sttt 10
1.3.3  Organisational SIrUCIUTE ......ceecereureierimesieis st et ete st eres s s et e sr e nen s 11
1.4 SERVICES PROVIDED ....ccucioiieeceeeiccieecesessissssisssisssssssssssssss s snessessssensnsssssssnns 12
1.4.1  Functions and SErviCes .....ceeevcemrrrriireiecee e ree s e s sn e s et s e 12
1.4.2  Changes to Functions and SErviCes ......cooiiiiemmmeeinesceeee e i2
1.5 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK....ccooriireeeeere e i2
2. AGENCY PERFORMANCE......covvvinrnnsmsinicsiniii i ssisssssssssssnss snasassansecssssssscnsses 13
2.1 ADMISSIONS ...ceiiieitecteestes e e et e st st s semt e e e ss e s s s s s eb b s s be s n s nas b s s nssenan i3
2.2 REHABILITATION/COMMUNITY ..ot een et se s e i3
2.3 RESPITE CARE ..ooceeeeeeeceeeeeeeeeesacteescsstss it sssse st s sssasstssoss s ssener s e sssssesesssserss s sseanes i4
2.4  CLINICAL CARE. ...ttt eessie s s s bbb s b s bbb e 14
2.5 VENTILATOR DEPENDENT PROGRAM.....comr e 14
2.6 SUBACUTE PATIENT CATEGORY ...ttt et vace e nees 15
2.7 COMMUNITY SUPPORT SERVICES.........ere e 15
2.8  RESEARCH. ..t eeteeteetresteseeeeet s s s eeasssessss s st s sssssee s e s s s e srse s se s snssrn s s st e s st ansssssaas 16
2.0 PHARMARCY oottt ittt e cs e s e e secte s s st s s sb s s s e e s s ne s st e s anessmnnnannaaas 16
2.10 STAFF DEVELOPMENT ...ttt csis s s sass s s e s e nass s s s 6
2.11 INFECTION CONTROL ..ootueeteieeeesecsscnitcise s ssesess s st ssescesesast s st st 17
2.12 EQUIPMENT UPGRADING......ccceeieeierreereereetescsessissss s se s s sesasssssssssnssnns 18
2.13 QUALITY ASSURANCE ... otieceeceeteeeeetr e eetesssesssssss s s s s s ss s bssssssess s sssnas i8
2.14 RISK MANAGEMENT ...ttt s s 18
2.15 FACILITY UPGRADING MASTER PLAN ..o 19

4



3.
4.

5.

6.

SIGNIFICANT TRENDS & ISSUES ........uueoeveericieiiretistisantcstietsesssesssstssssssesses 19
DISCLOSURES & LEGAL COMPLIANCE ...couuovvvvriersnicnsersssesisssssssssrsssssssssasssns 20
4.1 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ... .o reecerireesessmssnsnns s sssnasssssnssssssssnsnssnsneses 20
4.2 OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES ....ereeesesnsccsnnnnss s snnees s ssnasssssesssnsns 20
4.3 HUMAN RESOURCES .......oiviriierrisncstinnrcnnisncss s sssescsn s ssnsansssne ssnnssnssssnssnsnnes 20
4.3.1 Recruitment and Retention.....oouvieeimsiccisiiecisescsr st st e 20
4.3.2  Full Time Equivalent (FTE).....coecieiirsreererereeesesmenessesneeneseessesnremnsensenssasaesasas 22
4.3.3 Table 4 - Turnover Rate PEICENLAZE ....cvceverremrciinsresinieissiessssesiesesssssnssssssssssnns 22
4.4 INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS ...ccciiicieemtciitenstessenenssssnessesssssenesssssssssossesssssnsssnnees 22
4.5 OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH....coooriciiertreettctettenesssaeseinns 22
4.6 FIRE SAFETY o ccviiitinstiniasnetseineisstssesnisss s sssssssss s ssnsssssteetasaseteessasanssnssosnsesesssssnnns 23
4.7 GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES ....oviieetvecrnnrcsieissennnitns i ssesssnennsssnsessssessssssnse 24
4,7.1  MIniSterial DireClIVES. .omerenruersummmssesssrersnvissrsnossnossascssrssssnssnssssssnnessssssnsasessssnns 24
4,7.2  Potential Conflicts Of INEETESE.....oociviiecirneiiniierie s nnanss s sssaanas 24
4.8 OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS.......eetnncsssnnissncnsssessnesssssss s ssssns s s sannnes 25
A8B.1  AQVEIHSIAZ coverrreernsereeesssesseseoesesessesssssesssesmsssssssesssssssssassssssssssssasesssnsssssssnsees 25
4.8.2 Disability Access & Inclusion Plan OutComes.....ccecereeereseescesnennesnenssnsennennns 25
4.8.3 Equal Employment Opporfunity OUICOMES ....ccoesiieiinriissinirsessssenssssnesssssssonnens 26
4.8.4 Compliance with Public Sector Standards & Ethical Codes........ccevveevervennnns 27
4.8.5 RecordReePIng Plans.......cciveeesererneressissssssssesssssssssisssssisssssssssssssssssssssssssessssons 28
49 GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS ......cooririiemtenrermeeesmreeseeeseaneesaeeenes 28
4,9.1  COrruption Prevention.........cceuiueerisessnesssssssnsssossosssissessssssssssosssssssessonssnsensens 28
4,92 SuStaMADIlILY ....coieceeeecr ettt be st s a s e 29
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS ........oveeeeeerirerereesrssessesssnsesessssesssssssesssassasssons 30
5.1 CERTIFICATION OF PERFORMANCE INDICATORS.......ccccivverrrrrrreeneresssnnenss 30
5.2 EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS....... it irssssssesssssssssssns e ssnnansssnas 31
5.3 EFFICIENCY INDICATORS .. et iieerc e e seeens e s e e enae s s s snnane s s s e nes s meeeas 33
5.4 COMMUNITY SUPPORT SERVICE.....ccccnvmiesrsrsesirasesssisssnisssssnmssee ssnmesnnsssncenns 34
FINANCIAL REPORTING



1. OVERVIEW OF AGENCY

1.1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Quadriplegic Centre is a 100 bed hospital for the specialist management of
people with high spinal cord injuries and spinal cord disease, and is an integral part
of the Western Australian health system.

The Centre is classified as a Public Hospital under the Hospitals Act 1927, and is
funded by the Health Department of Western Australia. The hospital is managed by
a Board of Management appointed by the Minister for Health.

The Centre provides a comprehensive range of services including medical, nursing,
physiotherapy, occupational therapy, psychology, recreational and community
outreach and support services.

In 2006/2007 the Centre introduced a Ventilator Dependent support program and
planning for a sub-acute category of patient to provide more comprehensive service
capacity in support of the acute hospital sector.

The Centre is vital to the needs of spinal paralysed persons unable to live
independently due to their medical, nursing, and general care needs and is an
essential resource for the acute hospitals in providing an alternative facility, at lower
cost, freeing up beds in that sector.

A number of residents with psychiatric ililness, dementias, concurrent medical
conditions and cancer continue to form a sub-group of residents receiving post-acute
care, rehabilitation or long term care through the Quadriplegic Centre. The impact of
psychiatric problems presents major clinicai management issues, however, the
Quadriplegic Centre is the only facility in Perth that can manage this category of
patient.

The Centre is commitied to providing ongoing services relevant to the needs of
people with spinal cord injuries and critical discussions regarding the upgrade of
Quadriplegic Centre care facilities with the North Metropolitan Area Health Services
on behalf of the Health Department are continuing.

A continued focus on education, training, and research has allowed many employees
to acquire qualifications in disability work and post-graduate rehabilitation nursing.

The Quadriplegic Centre has a strong focus on quality assurance and has
accreditation from SAl Giobal under the AS/NZS ISO 9001:2000. The Centre has



achieved good results in decreasing lost time through work place injury with a sixty
percent decrease in lost time accidents during 2006 / 2007 and zero recorded
medical treatment accidents. Extensive review of the fire safety procedures in 2007
allowed for many changes to the evacuation and training processes.

The Centre provided 28062 occupied bed days in 2006 / 2007 including 815 days of
respite care. Community Support Service nurses made a total of 4246 client related
visits and provided valuable support and advice to paralysed persons living
independently in the community.

The Quadriplegic Centre provides a workplace that is fully accessible and conducive
to the needs of people with disabilities and provides employment for a number of
staff with supporied care needs. All recruitment processes comply with Public Sector
Standards and there is transparency in Human Resource decision making.



1.2 OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE

Legal Name: Quadriplegic Centre Board of Management

Postal Address: Quadriplegic Centre
PO Box 257, SUBIACO WA 6904

Street Address: 10 Selby Street, SHENTON PARK WA 6008
Telephone Number: (08} 9381 0144
Facsimile Number: (08} 9381 5097

1.2.1 Enabling Legisiation

The Quadriplegic Centre Board of Management is incorporated under the Hospitals
and Health Services Act (1927), which provides for the establishment, maintenance
and management of Public Hospitals and for incidental and other purposes.

The Quadriplegic Centre is managed and controlled by a Board of Management
constituted under Section 15 of the Hospitals and Health Services Act (1927).

The Board of Management, as the Accountable Authority for the Statutory Authority,
is responsible to the Minister for Health, Hon. J. McGinty MLA, for the general
administration of the Health Service.



1.2.2 Directions Statement

VISION
The Quadriplegic Centre vision is the creation of a Centre of Excellence in the
provision of spinal injury management, care and rehabilitation in Western Australia.

MISSION

The mission of the Quadriplegic Cenire is to provide a Centre of best practice in the
provision of spinal cord injury rehabilitation that is both innovative and responsive in
the services it provides for the community.

LEADERSHIP IN SERVICE
The Quadriplegic Centre demonstirates leadership by:

s The provision of evidence based clinical services;
» Achieving excellence in education and training;

« Providing consultancy, network development and support to the acute care
secior and community care providers;

+ Involvement in clinical research.

PRINCIPLES
Quality Care
The Quadriplegic Centre is committed o excellence in service development and
provision, and is a quality endorsed and accredited organisation. This ensures a
program of continuous improvement to both clients and the community in spinal
injury rehabilitation.

Continuity of Care
The Quadriplegic Cenire supporis co-ordination and integration of service delivery
by working in parinership with acuie care services and community care providers.

Accountability
The Quadriplegic Cenire uses its resources efficiently through quality
management practices and ensures services are monitored and evaluated.

Equity and Access

The Quadriplegic Centre respects the interest and views of clienis and
professional groups, and adheres to the principles of social justice in response to
customer and client needs.



1.3 MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

1.3.1 Accountable Authority

CHAIRPERSON

MEMBERS

Mr. R. Dunn, FCA, FAIM, CD
Professor S. A. Duniop, BSc (Hons), PhD (from 01/01/2007)

Associate Professor S.J. Edmondston, Dip Physio, Adv Dip
Physio, PhD (from 01/01/2007)

Mr J.V. Fisher, AM, BA, Dip Fine Aris, Dip Ed, Cit WA
(retired 01/08/2006)

Mrs. E. B. Greville-Collins
Mrs M. H. Kuhne BA (from 01/01/2007)
Ms M. MacLeod BA

Ms H.M McNee BA (Hons), MA. (Quadriplegic Centre
Resident) (from 01/01/2007)

Mr I.C. Rogerson (Quadriplegic Centre Resident} (from
01/01/2007)

Mrs E. Smith (Quadriplegic Centre Resident) (fo 31/12/2006)
Mr. J. W. Thornton, ASA

Mrs L.A. Whittingham, B App Sc (Nsg), FRCNA, Cit WA (fo
31/12/2006)

Mr. P.R. Woodland, MBBS (WA), FRACS, FAOrth.A.

Board Members are appointed by the Governor in Executive Council. The term of
appointment for each member of the Board commenced on 01/01/2007 and expires

on 31/12/2009.
1.3.2 Table 1 Senior Officers
Area of | Title Name Basis of
Responsibility
Appointment
Corporate Management | Executive Director Mr P.N.M. Glass Permanent
Nursing Setrvices Director of Nursing Mr C. Baldwin Permanent
Medical Services General Practitioner | Dr W. Quarles Permanent
Financial Services Executive  Officer, | Mr S. Yensch Permanent
Finance
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1.3.3 Organisational Structure

MINISTER OF HEALTH
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR PRINCIPAL; ACCOUNTING OFFICER
;
SECRETARY/PERSONAL DIRECTOR OF NURSING ADMINISTRATIVE
ASSISTANT — _SERVICES

Clerical Support ¢ Admin Support

Medical Records ¢ Accounts

Records Management » Reception

» Banking

ALLIED MEDICAL NURSING SERVICES COMMUNITY HOTEL SERVICES
HEALTH SERVICES : SUPPORT - _
SERVICES - ¢ Nursing Admin SERVICES ¢ Catering Service
— — = Medical Staff » Human Resources —= ' + Cleaning Service
Occupational s Visiting o Clinical Consultancy » Hospital & « Laundry Service
Therapy Consultants + Staff Development Community « Transport Service
Physiotherapy » Rostering & Liaison » Maintenance
Phar.macy Allocation * Home Nursing » Gardening
Service ¢ Tducation & Research Consultancy Service (Contract)
Psychology » Infection Control * Outreach
Service + Clinical/Registered & Support
Social Welfare Enrolled Nursing, &

Assistants in Nursing
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1.4 SERVICES PROVIDED

1.4.1 Functions and Services

Direct Resident Services Allied Health Services
Medical Services Physiotherapy
Nursing Services Occupational Therapy
Recreation Services (PQA) Pharmacy

Resident Liaison Service (Social Welfare) Psychological Services

Other Support Services Community Support Services
Corporate Services Hospital & Community Liaison
Maintenance Home Nursing Consuitancy
Hotel Services Outreach Support

Financial Services
Medical Records

Supply

1.4.2 Changes to Functions and Services

No significant changes to the functions and services provided by the Quadriplegic
Centre have been made other than the provision of full quadriplegic ventilator
dependent nursing services.

1.5 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Quadriplegic Centre is funded through the Health Department of Western
Australia. The Centre accepts appropriate transfers from all WA hospitals and health
care institutions.

Disability Services Commission of WA has designated two (2) places that allow for
the admission of patients without loss of community funding eligibility. These beds
are often filled by the same patient for up to twelve months at a time. An increase in
designated places is required to facilitate the transition from acute care to the
community.

The Centre’s Community Support Nurses receive annual funding from the Home and

Community Care Program (HACC) to assist in providing services to clients living in
the community with spinal cord injury.

12



2. AGENCY PERFORMANCE

The Quadriplegic Centre has a focus on providing services to a primary population
who are guadriplegic through spinal cord injury and, to a lesser extent, those whose
quadriplegia is due to spinal disease. The Centre provides a capacity to manage
clients for respite care, short term rehabilitation, and longer, compiex management
requiring extended care services. The following sections relate to services provided
and performance in key areas.

2.1 ADMISSIONS

One hundred and eleven (111) persons meeting the admission criteria received
ongoing rehabilitation and health care support. The average bed occupancy for the
year was 76.33.

Sixty one (61) applications for admission were received during the year. Fifty clients
were admitted (37 respite admissions by 26 residents; 12 short stay; 1 long term). Of
the 11 applications received but not admitied, 4 were withdrawn and 7 were refused
admission due to not meeting admission criteria. No other applicant meeting the
selection criteria was refused admission, although there were several enquiries from
people with conditions other than a spinal injury who did not submit applications due
to not meeting the admission criteria.

Total Occupied Bed Days provided by the Centre were 28062 for 2006/2007
compared to 29470 in 2005/2006.- The highest monthly number of bed days for the
year was provided in August 2006 with 2470 bed days.

Table 2 - Bed Occupancy
Year Bed Occupancy (total occupied bed days)
2006/2007 28062
2005/2006 29470
2004/2005 30864
2003/2004 30086

2.2 REHABILITATION/COMMUNITY
During 2006/2007 nine (9) residents were assisted to reside in the community

including one (1) who returned overseas after being involved in formal rehabilitation
programs. Of these nine, one returned after less than four weeks due to lack of
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personal care and social support and one returned after four months with community
acquired pressure ulcers.

2.3 RESPITE CARE

During 2006/2007 respite care was provided to twenty six (26) persons for a total of
915 days over thirly seven (37) admissions compared to 2005/2006 when respite
care was provided to eighteen (18) persons for a total of 482 days over twenty seven
(27) admissions. Respite care enables clients living in the community to receive
short term medical and allied health support essential to prevent inappropriate acute
hospitalisation, and enabling carers to enjoy a period of care relief. The Centre
continues to provide an important venue for country clients to facilitate outpatient
appointments and to have care relevant to their health needs.

2.4 CLINICAL CARE

A number of residents with psychiatric illness, dementias, concurrent medical
conditions and cancer continue to form a sub-group of residents receiving post-acute
care, rehabilitation or long term care through the Quadriptegic Centre. The impact of
psychiatric problems presents major clinical management issues, however, the
Quadriplegic Centre is the only facility in Perth that can manage this category of
patient.

Complimentary to the provision of medical and nursing services, physiotherapy,
occupationa! therapy, psychological counselling, social and recreational support
services are also available through the Centre and continue to successfully enhance
activities of daily living, independent living and personal goals of residents.

2.5 VENTILATOR DEPENDENT PROGRAM

The Centre provides for the management of quadripiegic people who require
ventilation to maintain their breathing. This was initially for patients who were
managed on CPAP ventilators but could, for various lengths of time, breath
independently.

Funding has now been made available to the Centre to fulfil its role in the
management of ventilator dependent quadriplegics. Care provided under this
agreement reduces the need for acute care services to provide for the fong term
management of these persons with the attendant high costs. The first resident in this
program was admitted on 1% May 2007 with staff undergoing extensive training in the
months leading up to this date. Thirty five (35) nurses undertook training in March
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and April to care for this type of resident and another eight staff participated in the
training after admission.

In recent discussions with the community ventilator program managers and Royal
Perth Hospital, it has been agreed that the Quadriplegic Centre will provide
respite/short stay services to community clients of this new program. This will further
reduce the impact on the acute care service and provide a more cost effective option
delivered through the Quadriplegic Centre

2.6 SUBACUTE PATIENT CATEGORY

The Centre is active in promoting the management of subacute patients at the
Centre. This category of patient would include those with pressure ulcers requiring
bed rest and increased care; ongoing rehabilitation; management of post acute
fractures: and newly injured persons awaiting suitable housing or care packages
following acute treatment.

The Centre has already accepted a trial of patients under the care of Royal Perth
Hospital plastic surgeon, Mr James Savundra.

2.7 COMMUNITY SUPPORT SERVICES

The ‘Home Visiting Nursing Service’ has changed its name in the past year to
‘Community Support Service’ to more accurately reflect the nature of the role. The
Service lodges quartetly activity statements in the form of a Minimal Data Set to the
HACC National Data Repository and HACC WA.

The Community Support Service covers all metropolitan areas. Country clients are
visited during the year with visits extending north to Geraldton and south to Albany.
The Service has 515 current clients on its database and this is continually updated
as new clients are referred and older clients discontinue their need. This financial
year the Service responded to 3275 requests for service (an increase of 75 since
2005 / 2008). In total, 42486 client related visits were undertaken (an increase of 310
since the last reporting period). In the last financial year 77 new pressure sores or
burns were identified compared to 87 in 2005/2006. Of these, 62 were treated
successfully in the client’s home.

The Service observed a number of ongoing issues impacting on clients in the
community. These include shortage of carer resources and health issues related to
an ageing client popuiation, which significantly affects the level of independence and
in some cases their ability to remain at home. These and other problems are
reflected in an increasing need for respite services for community clients.

15



2.8 RESEARCH

The Centre is providing assistance to a company developing a natural based cream
to promote wound healing in chronic pressure wounds. An international clinical trial
involving the Centre and one other hospital in Australia is under consideration. The
proposal is to be reviewed by the Centre’s Ethics Committee and Executive Director
prior to commitment.

The Centre is also participating in a joint study on the management of pressure
ulcers with the Rehabilitation Engineering Department at Royal Perth Hospital. This
study is awaiting State Health Research Advisory Council funding.

2.8 PHARMACY

A review of pharmacy operations in early 2007 and an audit of the Centre in May
2007 prompted changes to the management of medications. In consultation with the
Pharmacist it was decided to move to Webster Packs to store and distribute resident
medications. This change allowed for the discontinuation of dosette boxes and
dispensing of individual pills which was time consuming for Registered Nurses and
took them away from more important duties. The transition to the Webster system
took place over two months with education sessions provided for all levels of staff.
Apart from minor setup problems the change was accepted well and staff and
residents are now comfortable with this system. The Webster packs are produced
and distributed on-site. The Pharmacist currently dispenses one hundred and six
{(106) Webster Packs each week.

As part of the new procedures the pharmacy was moved to slightly larger premises
within the Administration Buiiding.

2.10 STAFF DEVELOPMENT

A strong commitment to continuous improvement underpins the Quadriplegic
Centre’s staff development programme.

An accredited Certificate il and 1V training course in disability work was offered to
new and existing Assistants in Nursing and the cost of this was met by the Centre
with incentive payments from Australian Apprenticeships. In 2006/2007 fifteen (15)
staff completed the course reguirements with the majority remaining employed by
the Centre on completion. This is compared to twelve {(12) in 2005/2006 and eight (8)
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in 2004/2005. The Centre will continue to offer this course as ‘an incentive to
attracting and retaining good staff.

As well as the in-service education for staff in the Ventilator Support Program,
training was conducted for Webster Pack medications, fire safety and evacuation,
CPR, and infection control. Guest speakers provided sessions on diabetes
education, flu vaccinations, suicide prevention, swallowing difficulties, alcohol hand
gels, alternative hoists and various wound dressing products.

In previous years the Centre has provided support to undergraduate and re-
registration nursing students from Curtin University School of Nursing. There have
been no student placements over the past twelve months. The Centre has
negotiated to accommodate migrant bridging students in the iast half of 2007.
Undergraduate placements will commence, where appropriate, in 2008. The allied
health staff also provide placements for physiotherapy students from Curtin and
Notre Dame universities and TAFE therapy assistant students.

2.11 INFECTION CONTROL

The Quadriplegic Centre maintains strict guidelines relating to managing infection
control issues. An Infection Control Nurse is empioyed two days per week and
provides education to staff, screening of patients and review of nosocomial infection
rates and care. This nurse obtained post graduate qualifications in Infection Control
in 2006 and is proactive in reducing infection rates among the Centre’s population.

People with high spinal cord injury and disease are at significantly increased risk of
infections involving the urinary tract (UTI), respiratory system, gastrointestinal tract,
and skin. Some infection control achievements for the past year include:

e UTI surveillance revealed trends of E.coli and S.marcsens in February 2007
and effective monitoring and precautions resolved this by mid March 2007.

s Overuse of antibiotics was identified as an issue in April 2007 and this was
discussed with senior nurses. A review by nursing staff and the physician saw
changes to diagnosis and prophylactic treatments and there was improvement
in May 2007 surveillance.

« A review of urinary drainage devices is ongoing to determine if there is any
link to recurrent UTI’s and some appliances.

» Protocols have been regutarly reviewed as per the Centre’s continuous quality
improvement program.
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The Centre also trialled a number of alcohol based hand gels and has now
introduced a suitable gel in all patient areas. This has reduced the potential for cross
infection, especially in times of heavy workload.

2.12 EQUIPMENT UPGRADING

During the year the Centre undertook all prescribed preventative maintenance of
equipment such as fire protection equipment, paging systems, and patient care
equipment. There was also a need to purchase or upgrade equipment related to the
introduction of the Ventilator Program. This included a new blood pressure and
oxygen saturation monitoring machine, intravenous pump, in-exsufflator, and
automated defibrillator.

2.13 QUALITY ASSURANCE

The Quadripiegic Centre is commitied to providing quality services 1o people with
significant paralysis. The Centre is accredited with SAl Global under the AS/NZS
ISO 9001:2000 standards and was reaccredited for three (3) years from 18" January
2007. A surveillance audit was carried out on 1% May 2007 and the next surveillance
audit is scheduled for November 2007. All recommendations from the May audit
have been addressed.

Monthly scheduled internal audits continue and a review of the officers responsible
for auditing will take place in September 2007 to provide further training and
eliminate any potential bias.

2.14 RISK MANAGEMENT

The Centre is continuing to reduce potential for nisk within the organisation. Pianning
is in place to implement an institution wide risk management plan that provides a
global view of risk at all levels. This plan will build on the current risk management
strategies in place and is scheduled for completion in mid 2008.

There is a comprehensive Food Safety Plan in place that provides continuous data
on all food stuffs that come into the Centre, including a temperature trail that is kept
for seven (7) years.

A review of all chemical usage in the Centre was carried out in iate 2006. Foliowing

this review a number of chemicals not currently used were removed from stocks.
Material Safety Data Sheets are accessible for stock chemicals.
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2.15 FACILITY UPGRADING MASTER PLAN

The Board has commissioned and received a feasibility study and master planning
submission making recommendations on current and future accommodation
requirements for the Centre. The report confirmed the Board's concerns to address
fire safety requirements and the need io progressively address contemporary
accommodation responses to ensure continuity of care consistent with best practice.

An external review of fire safety systems was conducted by ARUP Engineering in
2007 and funding to upgrade systems has been approved consistent with ARUP
recommendations. The Executive Director is in ongoing discussions with the North
Metropolitan Area Health Service to further document clinical issues and progress
the business plan to redevelop the Centre. The Board is of the view that the
proposed refurbishment and partial redevelopment is essential to the continuing
requirement for best practice options for the care of spinal paralysed persons unable
to be cared for in the community, and where acute care is inappropriate and a
misuse of resources. -

3. SIGNIFICANT TRENDS & ISSUES

There is an identified population of around one thousand five hundred and fifty
(1,550) persons with spinal cord injury or disease residing in Western Australia.
Royal Perth Hospital’'s Sir George Bedbrook Spinal Unit managed sixty three (63)
new spinal cord injuries in 2005 and sixty five (65) in 2006. Residents of Western
Australia have a three year annual average rate of spinal cord injury significantly
higher than the national average (22.7 cases per million population versus 15.4
cases per million population). Spinal Cord Injury, Australia 2005-05, RA Cripps

There is a further significant population of persons with paralysis from other disease
processes, which is estimated to be of at least similar size to the spinal injured
population. Persons very severely disabled by Multiple Sclerosis, Motor Neurone
Disease and Post Polio Syndrome, often combined with other chronic diseases such
as diabetes, lung disease, cancer or mental illness also make up a proportion of the
Quadriplegic Centre population. There is increasing pressure from tertiary hospitals
and community organisations to accept these types of people for both long and short
term care at the Quadriplegic Centre. Support to this group of disease processes is
problematic and not within the primary care rote of the Centre.

The demand from the acute care sector to admit post acute spinal injuries for
transitional rehabilitation / subacute management remains at high levels. The Centre
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has the capacity to respond to these requests, however, the major impediment resis
with current policies of the Disability Services Commission which have the effect of
causing longer stays than necessary in the acute environment. Access to community
care packages is effectively lost if patients transfer to the Quadriplegic Centre. The
consequent impact on the acute care service is that patients who would be more
appropriately managed in a step-down facility such as the Quadriplegic Centre loose
that option. The Board expresses concern regarding this issue.

As with the greater population, there is an increasing demand to assist older spinal
paralysed persons, either living independently in the community or as residents of
the Centre. The ageing process impacts greatly on those who are already
significantly physically disabled and the care requirements increase
disproportionately when compared to the normal ageing population. These issues
are impacted by failing family/social support structures and referral to the Centre
often occurs when older clients are in crisis.

Future care planning within the Centre is mindful of the need to care for an ageing
patient popuiation.

4. DISCLOSURES & LEGAL COMPLIANCE

4.1 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See part lil of this report for ali financial declarations and disclosures.

4.2 OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

See part |1l of this report for ali financial declarations and disclosures.

4.3 HUMAN RESOURCES

4.3.1 Recruitment and Retention

Recruitment of appropriate staff and retention of current staff has been a major focus
for the Centre. The senior nursing positions of DON, Nurse Manager, and Clinical
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Nurse Specialist were all vacated and successfully filied over the‘period between
November 2006 and February 2007.

Recruitment practices are in accordance with equal opporiunity in employment
requirements and public sector standards. The nursing management team ensured
that there was a fair mix on all interview panels and all appointments were on
individual merit.

A recruitment drive in early 2007 to increase the numbers of Assistants in Nursing
was successful and this category of staff is fully represented in most wards.
Assistant in Nursing Full Time Equivalents (FTE) is 47.25.

Recruitment of Registered and Enrolled Nurses continues to be difficult due to
industry wide shortages. The retirement of several Registered Nurses, each with
more than 20 years service, significantly compounded the difficulty in recruiting
equally qualified staff. Registered Nurse FTE is now 18.00. Enrolled Nurse FTE is
now 20.21, the increase of 3.24 in the last financial year is due to introduction of the
Ventilator program which is staffed by EN’s.

Whilst overall staff humbers have been maintained, the staff mix in nursing has
changed in response to this industry wide shortage necessitating increases in
Assistant in Nursing numbers.

Significant improvements have been made in the retention of staff due to a number
of strategies implemented in the first half of 2007. These include:

e Offers to increase the hours worked for part time employees who require
more time.

+ Increasing the level of management support for staff working on the fioor

« Improving the satisfaction of staff by promoting a sense of pride and
belonging within the organisation through activities such as monthly staff
barbecues and morning teas to celebrate special occasions.

» Encouraging staff to be involved in decision making that directly affects their
environments.

» Improved salary outcomes

Improvements in retention following the above strategies have had a significant

stabilising effect on the Centre staff and this is reflected in the decreased turnover of
Assistants in Nursing (31.48% in 2006/2007 compared to 66.10% in 2005/2006).
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4.3.2 Full Time Equivalent (FTE)

Table 3 - Breakdown of actual FTE by major employee category

CATEGORY 2006/07 2005/06 | 2004/05 | 2003/04 | 2002/03
Nursing 85.46* 77.77 78.61 79.37 82.63
Administration 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00
Medical Support 4.87 4.85 4.39 4.07 4.02
Hotel Services 21.00 24.98 25.28 26.21 25.35
Maintenance 1.0 0.97 1.13 0.98 0.96
Medical (Sessional) 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40
Other (Home  Visiting

Nursing Service) 2.00 1.92 2.01 1.94 1.91
TOTAL 116.73 112.89 113.82 114.97 117.27

*Increases in nursing numbers are a reflection of the complex care needs of an

ageing patient population.

4.3.3 Table 4 - Turnover Rate Percentage

CATEGORY 2006/07 | 2005/06 | 2004/05 | 2003/04 | 2002/03
Registered Nurse 47.62 32.27 24.35 8.00 21.71
Enrolled Nurse 34.78 32.78 45.29 61.44 64.83
Assistants in Nursing 31.48 66.10 69.82 43.47 76.28
Hotel Services 7.14 27.51 65.37 13.36 37.14
Allied Health 22.22 22.22 37.90 45,24 59.52
Total Percentage 42.68%  48.93%  [60.40% [35.89%  162.31%

4.4 INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS

The Quadriplegic Centre manages industrial relations issues in accordance with the
conditions contained in relevant Industrial Awards and Industry best practice. The
Centre regularly consults with the Australian Nursing Federation and the Chamber of

Commerce and Industry regarding conditions and awards for employees.

4.5

OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

The Quadriplegic Centre is one of the heaviest nursing care environments within the
State Health System. Each resident without exception requires direct assistance with
physical transfers continuously with each major specific activity of daily living.
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Approximately 400 hoist transfers are performed each day. The implications of this in
regard to Occupational Health and Safety are significant. The Centre continues to
strive for best practice outcomes and preventative activities. Commitment to
Occupational Safety and Health is a priority. Each ward area has OH&S
Representatives and the team meet every two months to review current issues.

For 2006/2007 five (5) lost time accidents and zero (0) medical treatment accidents
were recorded. The Centre worked a total of 208531 hours with a Lost Time
Accident (LTA) frequency rate of 25, compared to 2005/2006 where 186235 hours
were worked with a LTA frequency rate of 61.15.

Table 5 - Claims Profile

MTA = Medical Treatment Accident LTA = Lost Time Accident

Category 2006/2007 ] 2005/2006 2004/2005 12003/2004
' MTA |LTA |MTA |LTA MTA |LTA MTA | LTA

Nursing 0 : |4 1 5 - 7 -

Administration | O 0 - 1 - - - -
Medical 0 0 - - - - - 1
Support 0 0 - - - - -
Hotel Services § 0 1 1 6 - - 1 1
Maintenance {0 0 1 - 1 - - -
Other 0 0 - - - - - -
TOTAL 0 5 3 12 1 7 1 2

The Quadriplegic Centre is committed to ensuring the highest possible standard of
occupational safety and health for all personne! in accordance with the policies and
procedures contained in the Centre’s Occupational Safety and Health Manual. Every
accident resulting in loss of time (LTA), or medical treatment (MTA) is investigated
and an Accident Investigation Report completed. All potential injury or first aid
treatment incidents are also reported and are subject to investigation and
recommendation. The involvement of treating Medical Practitioners in the Centre’s
step by step approach to an early retum to work on alternative duties is particularly
beneficial in work injury management, where such participation is available.

4.6 FIRE SAFETY

The Centre conducted a major review of fire safety processes in early 2007 and a
number of new initiatives were impiemented as a result of this review and included:

+ New fire plans for all areas.
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+ Fire wardens’ files for all areas.

s Fire evacuation blankets have been placed on all residents’ beds.

s Fire drills and training were conducted for all staff in June and further sessions
are scheduled for July 2007.

« A comprehensive Workplace Inspection List has been developed and monthly
workplace inspections are undertaken.

4.7 GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES

4.7.1 Ministerial Directives

The Minister for Health did not issue any directives to the Quadriplegic Centre
operations during the 2006/2007 year.

4.7.2 Potential Conflicts of Interest
No senior officer at the Quadriplegic Centre:

1. held any shares as beneficiary or nominee in a subsidiary body of
the Quadriplegic Centre;

2. Mr. P. N. Giass, in his capacity as Executive Director of the
Paraplegic-Quadriplegic Association of WA (Inc) has a related
interest in administrative staffing of the Centre and a grounds
maintenance contract undertaken for the Centire by Para-Quad
Industries.

3. Mr. R. Dunn and Mr. J. W, Thornton as Board members of the
Paraplegic Quadriplegic Association have a related interest in
administrative staffing of the Centre and a grounds maintenance
contract undertaken by Para Quad |ndustries.

4. Board members and senior officers of the Quadriplegic Centre
declare that, other than the information declared above and that
reported in the Financial Statements, they have no pecuniary
interest.
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4.8

4.8.1 Advertising

OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

This information is published in accordance with Section 175ZE, Electoral Act 1907.

Table 6 Advertising expenditure 2006/2007

Total Expenditure

Class of Expenditure 2006/07 2005/06 2004/05 2003/04 | 2002/03
$ $ $ $ $
Advertising Agencies
43,436.75 16,359.69 6,695.47 6,893.07 | 7,698.0..04
Marketforce Publications
. 2,049.30 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Nursing Careers & Allied
.| Health (Seabreeze
Communications)
3 110.00 630.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Australian Physiotherapy
Assoc.
175.56
Quokka
495.00
Seek
480.00
Palican Graphics
Telstra Directory 0.00 326.00 294 .00 102.66 595 .82
46,746.61 | 17,315.69 6,989.47 6,995.73 8,293.86

The increase in advertising costs is associated with increased need to advertise and
fill all ievels of staff, particularly Director of Nursing, Nurse Manager, and Clinical
Nurse Specialist. Of the total expenditure $6,359.17 was used to advertise for staff to

cover the Ventilator Program and the increased staffing associated with this.

4.8.2 Disability Access & Inclusion Plan Outcomes

Under the Disability Services Act (1993) and the Disability Services Standards
Regulations (1994}, the Quadriplegic Centre is currently exempted from the

requirements to develop and implement a Disability Services Plan.
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noted that the Quadriplegic Centre is a fully accessible facility designed to meet the
requirements of spinal paralysed persons with multiple disabilities.

The Centre has in place a complaints policy and procedure that is published in the
residents handbook provided to clients on admission and discussed during induction.

The Quadriplegic Centre’s Quality Assurance Programme incorporates the Disability
Service Standards, which are subject to external audits.

4.8.3 Equal Employment Opportunity Outcomes

Outcome 1 — The Cenire values EEO and diversity and the work environment is free
from racial and sexual harassment.

The Centre’s policies demonstrate a commitment to EEO, diversity, prevention and
management of racial and sexual harassment. There was one (1) case where a
resident was racially*abusive to a staff member and that staff member reported it
through the appropriate internal channels. The resident was counselled about his
behaviour and was made aware of the seriousness of the allegations, the case was
resolved mutually by both parties.

Outcome 2 — The workplace is free from employment practices that are biased or
discriminate unlawfully against employees or potential employees.

The Centre has received no complaints related to this outcome and human resource
policies and practices are consistent with the Public Sector Standards.

Outcome 3 — Employment programs and practices recognise and include strategies
for EEO groups to achieve workforce diversily.

The Centre’s workforce is diverse, with staff of all races and a multiplicity of ethnic

groups, as well as staff with physical and intellectual disabilities, with employment
programs and practices being free of gender bias.
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Equity and Diversity Indicators:

INDICATOR LEVEL OF ACHIEVEMENT
EEO Management Plan Implemented
Organisational Plans Reflect EEO Implemented
Policies & Procedures Encompass EEO implemented
Requirements mplemented
Established EEQ contact officer Implemented
Training & Staff Awareness Programmes Implemented

Diversity

KEY EEQ ACHIEVEMENTS

Integration of EEO Oufcomes

The Quadriplegic Centre is committed to enhancing and promoting equal
employment opportunities and in that context employment decisions are considered
on merit and without prejudice. In March 2007 the Federal Department of Equal
Opportunity for Women in the Workplace waived the reporting process for the Centre
and it is not required to lodge a compliance report until 31 March 2008.

Elimination of Discrimination and Harassment

A comprehensive policy and attendant procedures are in place to eliminate
discrimination and harassment.  Grievances relating to discrimination and
harassment will be addressed in accordance with the circumstances of the grievance
and the policy, should any be received.

The Attainment of a Workplace Free of Bias

The Quadriplegic Centre has a predominately female workforce. The Centre
remains cognisant of all equal employment opportunity factors in relation to sexual
harassment, disability and related key issues.

4.8.4 Compliance with Public Sector Standards & Ethical Codes

The Quadriplegic Centre’s human resource processes comply with the Public Sector
Management Act. The Recruitment and Selection processes for promotional
positions meet the requirements of the Public Sector Standards. Performance
Management is consistently and fairly applied for all levels of staff and is open to
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review. All staff have equal opportunity to access training and are encouraged to do
S0.

A Grievance Procedure is in place and is promoted in Orientation and in-service
Education programs. A Code of Conduct devised from the WA Public Sector Code of
Ethics relevant to the Quadriplegic is in place. It is available in all policy manuals
located in the care units and is promoted during orientation programs.

No compiaints were made to the Public Sector Standards Commissioner related to
the conduct of Management or staff and there is no evidence of any breach activity
related to the Public Sector Standards, the WA Fublic Sector Code of Ethics or the
Quadriplegic Centre’s Code of Conduct.

4.8.5 Recordkeeping Plans

The Quadripiegic Centre has a Record Keeping Policy that covers all levels of hard
copy and electronic records. The policy covers management, storage, and archiving
of staff records, medical records, and administrative documents. The Centre
auditors, SAl Giobal, regularly conduct reviews of the efficiency of Centre records
and the record keeping process. Review of the storage of archived records was
conducted in Aprit 2007 and consequently all archived records were moved to a
storage area on site that complies with necessary requirements. This allowed for
archived records t0 be held in one place rather than having multiple storage areas.
Employee orientation addresses record keeping responsibilities relevant to the level
of employee.

The introduction of a server to network Centre computers in August 2007 will also
allow for the safe backup and storage of electronic records and databases. This will
allow for the practice of backing up to CD’s and discs to be discontinued and
alleviate the subsequent security issues this produces.

4.9 GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS
4.9.1 Corruption Prevention
Prevention of corruption has been an area of focus for the Centre and there are
policies in place to manage potential risks. All new staff are given information and
education on corruption at relevant levels and the consequences of misconduct. The

surveillance audit of May 2007 identified a potential for improper reporting of monthly
audits as many were completed by the officers responsible for the area. It is difficult
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to fully overcome this due to the small size of many depariments but the Centre is
arranging for staff to undergo education on independent auditing to alleviate any
bias.

4.9.2 Sustainability

The Quadriplegic Cenire has a continued commitment and awareness of the need to
provide a service with minimal impact on resources. This is particularly relevant in
Food Services where there are often high levels of waste. The implementation of
menu planning, standardised recipes, and specialist catering sofiware have allowed
for accurate calculating of ingredient requirements and significant decrease in waste.

Hotel Services also use a fat recycling service to remove and recycle used cooking
oils.

The Centre continues to recycle paper, aluminium cans {with proceeds going 1o the
Residents Commitiee) and monitoring usage of utilities.

P. N. (Migel) Glass, AM
Executive Director

Quadriplegic Centre
Date:.37 Aererersr 0/
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QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE BOARD

CERTIFICATION OF PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are
relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Quadriplegic Centre
Board’s performance and fairly represent the performance of the Board for the
financial year ended 30" June, 2007

P (e snl0o - (o {0anes

Mr. R. Dunn, FCA, FAIM, CD Mrs E.B. Greville-Collins
Chairperson Member of the Board
Quadriplegic Centre Board Quadriplegic Centre Board

Date: 3 AusLET &oa ) Date: 3\ AUWQT&OO\?
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

5.2 EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS

Outcome

1. To provide care for severely physically disabled persons paralysed through
spinal cord injury or disease.

2. To provide respite care for severely physically disabled persons paralysed
through spinal cord injury or disease.

3. To provide ongoing rehabilitation for severely physically disabled persons
paralysed through spinal cord injury or disease as they move through the
fransitional stage from acute care to community living.

a) One hundred and eleven (111) persons meeting the admission criteria received

ongoing rehabilitation and health care support in the residential service in
2006/2007. Sixty one (61) applications for admission were received in the year.
Fifty (50) clients were admitted (37 respite admissions by 26 residents; 12 short
stay; 1 long term). In 2006/2007 81.96% of applications were accepted.

2006/07 | 2005/06 2004/05 | 2003/04 | 2002/03
Number of Admission
Applications Received 61 49 62 48 67
Number of
Applications Approved 50 37 56 46 58
Number of Applicants
not meeting the
Admission Criteria 7 6 6 2 1
Number of Withdrawn
Applications 4 1 3 3

b)

PITCHER PARTNERS 31

The Effectiveness {ndicator of access (admissions) reflects the capacity of the
Centre to admit clients who meet the admissions criteria, subject to bed
availability and within the provisions of the Funding Agreement for the Provision
of Health Services between the Centre and the Health Department.

There were 3275 requests from Community Clients for primary care assistance
over the year, compared to 3200 in 2005/2006. All requests were made by
clients or families. 100% of requests were met.




4. To assist in the prevention of inappropriate hospitalisation of community
clients through the provision of primary care, where practicable.

a) In 2006/2007 seventy seven (77) community clients treated for pressure
areas and burns did not require hospitalisation (This represents a
significant saving to the State Hospital Service as demonstrated below.)

Total No. No. Pressure Areas/Burns | % of Treated Pressure
Year Pressure not requiring Areas/Burns not requiring
Areas/Burns | hospitalisation hospitalisation
2006/07 77 62 80.52%
2005/06 87 80 91.95%
2004/05 91 67 73.63%
2003/04 64 54 84.38%
2002/03 105 78 74.28%

The average length of stay in tertiary hospitals over the past five years for freatment
of pressure areas has been sixty four (64) days per admission with the five year
average cost per bed'day in this type of facility being $916.40. The cost of treating
the seventy-seven (77) community clients for 2006/07 would equate to $4,516,019in
an acute hospital or forty seven percent of the Quadriplegic Centre’s total operating
budget.

5. To provide services according to recognised standards in best practice and in
a manner acceptable fo residents and clients.

a) Review of compliance audits of the Quadriplegic Centre’s Quality System
were undertaken in October 2006 and May 2007 resulting in
recommendations that the Centre continue to be registered as a Quality
Endorsed Company under International Quality Standard 1SO AS/NZS
9001:2000.

b) The next formai audit of resident satisfaction is due in the first half of 2008
(the iast was in May 2006 with results reported in the 2006/2006 Annual
Report).

c¢) During 2006/2007 the Centre received four (4) formal complaints from one
(1) resident compared to twenty three (23) formal complaints from six (6)
residents or family members in 2005/2006. All complaints were resolved.
During the same period two (2) formal compliments were received by the
Centre compared to fifieen (15) in 2005/2006.

d) No formal complaints concerning the Community Support Service were
received from Community Support Service clients.
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5.3 EFFICIENCY INDICATORS

RESIDENTIAL CARE COST PER BED DAY

Continuing Care Services

1. To provide services according to recognised standards in best practice and in
a manner acceptable to residents and clients.

There is no mechanism within the Quadriplegic Centre to distinguish between the
cost per bed day for long term, short term, or respite clients. Respite and short term
care however, does not generally require greater resources than long term care and
is likely to have the effect of marginally reducing overall costs per bed day.

283.03

$300.00

$250.00 - $227.61

$205.61
$200.00 - A

$150.00 |
$100.00 -
$50.00 -

$0.00

2002/03 2003/04 2004/05  2005/2006 2006/2007

The cost per bed day is calculated on the total operating expenditure for the
Quadriplegic Centre.

The increase in 2003/2004 can be aftiributed to increases in Registered Nurses
wages and payments of accumulated entitlements to a long term staff member on
retirement. The 2006/2007 increase in cost per bed day also reflects alignment of
staff salaries to the current Public Hospital EBA.
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54 COMMUNITY SUPPORT SERVICE

COST PER CLIENT AND CLIENT RELATED VISITS

2. To provide services according to recognised standards in best practice and in
a manner acceptable to residents and clients.

$60.00 -
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$51.26
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The Efficiency Indicator for Cost per Client and Client Related Visits is calculated on
the total operating expenditure for the Community Support Service.

The increase in 2003/2004 can be altributed 1o increases in Registered Nurses
wages and payments of accumuiated entitlements to a long term staff member on
retirement.

PITCHER PARTNERS 34




Annual Report

& PART lil -

Financial Statements

PITCHER PARTNERS



Quadriplegic Centre Board

Certification of financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2007

The accompanying financial statements of the Quadriplegic Centre Board have been prepared
in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts
and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ending 30 June
2007 and the financial position as at 30 June 2007.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Mr R Dunn, FCA, FAIM, CD S I\U(ensch CPA
Chairman Chief Finance Officer
Quadriplegic Centre Board Quadriplegic Centre Board

Date: g‘\ A{O EOST Q@j Date: 34 ,41/@1)5’\’ 02»0’97

Mrs E Greville-Collins

Board Member
Quadriplegic Centre Board

Date: %\ ‘Q(L)g{)%.\( &[}g’
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Income Statement
For the year ended 30th June 2007

Note 2007 2006
$ $
CQOST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 7 6,677,873 5,808,270
Fees for visiting medical practitioners 56,914 57,451
Patient support costs 8 790,661 781,702
Depreciation and amortisation expense 9 68,030 69,971
Capital user charge 10 - 5,437
Other expenses 11 §12,317 384,589
Total cost of services 8,105,795 7,107,430
INGOME
Revenue
Patient charges 12 1,448,862 1,430,682
interest revenue 76,003 47,657
Other revenues 13 150,588 §9,075
Total income other than income from State Government 1,684,543 1,567,414
NET CQOST OF SERVICES 6,421,252 5,540,016
= INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations . 14 6,505,456 5.981,732
Total income from State Govergment 6,505,456 5,981,732

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 84,204 444,716

The Income Statement should be read in confunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Balance Sheet

As at 30th June 2007
Note 2007 2006

ASSETS $ $
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15 1,329,002 1,028,320

Receivables 16 39,509 203,921

Amounts receivable for services 17 252,301 158,647

Inventories 18 25,833 23,148

Other current assets 19 4,739 -
Total Current Assets 1,651,384 1,414,036
Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 20 414,824 425,735

Intangible assets 22 511 919
Total Non-Current Assets 415,335 426,654
Total Assets 2,066,719 1,840,690
LIABILITIES

3 Current Liabilities

Payables 23 182,043 202,105

Provisions ; 24 944,297 848,626

Other current liabilities 25 225,488 169,948
Total Current Liabilities 1,351,828 1,220,679
Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 24 121,001 110,325
Total Non-Current Liabilities 121,001 110,325
Total Liabilities 1,472,829 1,331,004
NET ASSETS 593,890 509,686
EQUITY

Cantributed equity 26 156,000 156,000

Accumulated surplus 27 437,890 353,686
TOTAL EQUITY 593,890 509,686

The Balance Sheef should be read in conjunction with the notes fo the financial statements.

PITCHER PARTNER-




Quadriplegic Centre Board

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30th June 2007

Note 2007 2006
$ $
Balance of equity at start of year 509,687 67,970
CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 26
Balance at start of year 156,000 156,000
Balance at end of year 456,000 156,000
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 27
Balance at start of year 353,687 (88,029)
Surplus for the year 84,204 441,716
Balance at end of year 437,891 353,687
Balance of equity at end of year 593,891 509,687
Total income and expense for the year {a) 84,204 441,716

k]

(a) The aggregate net amount attributzble to each category of equity is: sumplus $84,204 (2006: surplus $441,716).

The Statement of Changes in Equily should be read in conjunction with the nofes to the financial statements.
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30th June 2007

Note 2007 2006
$ 5
inflows Infiows
{Outflows) (Outflows)
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations 6,411,802 5,901,085
Net cash provided hy State Government 28(c) 6,411,802 5,901,085
Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Supplies and services (1,289,450} {1,137,017)
Employee benefits (6,514,971} {b,851,636)
GST payments on purchases (149,019) (143,754)
Receipts
Receipis from customers 1,582,859 1,426,178
Interest received 76,093 47,657
GST receipts on sales 19,577 5,911
GST refunds from taxation authority 143,909 149,178
Other receipts s 76,502 35,347
Net cash used in operating activities 28(b) {6,054.410) {5,468,136)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for purchase of non-current physical assets (66,711} {54,885)
Net cash used in investing activities (56,711} (54.885)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 300,681 378,064
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 1,028,320 650,256
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF YEAR 28(a) 1,329,001 1,028,320

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial stafements.
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2007

Note

Note

4 Australian equivalents to internationat Financiai Reporting Standards

General

The Quadriplegic Centre Board’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2007 have been prepared in accordance with
Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards {AIFRS), which comprise a Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (the Framework) and Australian Accounting Standards (including the Auvstralian Accounting
Interpretations).

In preparing these financial statements the Quadsiplegic Centre Board has adopted, where relevant fo its operations, new and revised
Standards and [nierpretations from their operative dates as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASE} and
formerly the Urgent [ssues Group (UIG).

Earty adoption of standards

The Quadriplegic Centre Board cannot early adopt an Australizn Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting Interpretation unless
specifically permitted by Treasurer's Instruction 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. No
Standards and Interpretations that have heen issued or amended but are not yet effective have been early adopted by the
Quadriplegic Centre Board for the annual reperiing period ended 30 June 2007.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General Statement

The financial statemenis constilite @ general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the Australian
Acceunting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncemants of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer's Instructions
{o vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer's instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparation of financial
statements and take precedencd over the Accounting Standards, the Framawork, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.

Where modification Is required and has & material or significant financial effect upon the reporied results, details of that modification
and the resulfing financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b} Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, modified by the
revaluation of land and buildings which have been measured at fair valve .

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods
presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian doflars and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar.

The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Quadriplegic Gentre Board's accounting policies that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are disclosed at note 3 'Judgements made by
management in applying atcounting policies’.

The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key Sources of estimation uncertainty at the batance sheet date that have
a significant tisk of causing a material adjustment to ihe carrying amcunts of assets and fiabilities within the next financial year are
disclosed at note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation unceitainty’.

{c) Contributed Equity

UIG Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires transfers in the nature of
equity contributions to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer)
before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital contributions {appropriations) have been designated as
contributions by owners by Treasurer's Instruction (71} 955 ‘Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’
and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

{d) income
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Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised as follows:
Sale of goods

Revenue is fecognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership
control transfer to the purchaser and can be measurad reliably.

Rendgring of services
Revenue is fecognised on delivery of the service to the client.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2007

{d} Income {continued}

Irderest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. The effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net camying amount of the financial asset, is used where
applicable.

Service Appropriations

Service Appropriations are retognised as revenues at nominat value in the period in which the Quadriplegic Centre Board gains
control of the appropriated funds. The Quadriplegic Centre Board gains contro! of appropriated funds at the time those funds are
deposited to the bank account or credited to the holding account held at Treasury. {See note 14 'Service Appropriations')

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Quadriplegic Centre Board obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions,
usually when cash is received.

Other non-re¢iprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at thelr fair value. Coniributions of services are
only recognised when 2 fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not dorated.

Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obiained on the condition that they be expended in a
particular manner or used over a particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the balance sheet date, the nature
of, and amounts periaining to, thoge undischarged conditions are disclosed in the notes.

Galns

Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-
current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.

; {e} Property, Plant and Equlpment

Capitalisation/Expensing of assets

ltems of property, plant and eguigment cosfing §1,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed
(depreciated) over their useful lives. lierns of property, pfant and equipment costing less than $1,000 are immediately expensed direct
to the Income Statement {other than wherz they form part of a group of similar ftems which are significant in total}.

Inifial recognition and meastremen!

All items of property, ptant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. The Quadriplegic Centre is built on fand at 10 Selby Street
Shaneton Park, owned by the Paraplegic Quadriplegic Association of WA. The Buiidngs at Shenton Park are owned by the Paraplegic
Quadriplegic Association of WA,

For items of property, plant and eguipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost Is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subseqguient meastrement

After recognifion as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings and the cost medel for all other
property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are carfied at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and
accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and €quipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated usefu! lives in a manner that
refiects the consumption of thelr future economic benefits.

The assets' useful lives are reviewed annually. Expected useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Computer eguipmant 5 to 15 years
Fumniture and fittings 5 to 50 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 10 years
Other plant and equipment 5 to 50 years

{f} Intangible Assets

Capitatisation/Expensing of assets

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $1,000 or rore and Internally generated intangible assets costing $1,000 or more are
capitalised. The cost of utifising the assets is expensed {amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are
immediately expensed directly to the Income Statement.

All acquired and internally developad intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal
cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost mode! is applied for subseguent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amertisation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated usefut life) on
ihe reducing balance basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangibie assets contralled by the Quadriplegic Centre Board
have a finite useful life and zero residual value. The expected useful lives for each class of intangible assst are:

Computer Software 5§ years

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral
part of the refated hardware is freated as an intangibie asset.
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{g) Impairment of Assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at each balance sheet date. Where
there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the
Quadriplegic Centre Board is & not-for-profit enfity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset's fair value less costs o sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset's depreciation is materially understated, where the
replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to
verify that the accumulated depreciationfamortisation refiscts the fevel of consumption or expiration of asset's future etonomic
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value fess costs to sell and the present vatue of
future cash flows expected to be derived from the assst. Surplus asseis carried at fair value have no risk of material impaitment where
fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated
replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested
for indications of impairment at each balance sheet date.

Refer note 21 'Impairment of assets' for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.
Refer also to note 2{n) 'Receivabies’ and note 16 'Receivables’ for impairment of receivables.

{h) Financial instruments

The Quadriplegic Centre Board has two categories of financial instruments:
- Receivables {cash and cash equivalents, receivables); and
- Non rading financial liabilities {payables).

Initial recognition and measurement of financlal instruments Is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face
value. Subsequent measuremeqt is at amortised cost using the affective interest method.

The faif value of shori-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate
applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.
(i} Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise
cash on hand and shori-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to (nsignificant risk of changes in value.

i} Accrued Salaries

Accrued salaries (refer note 25) represent the arount due to employaes but unpaid at the end of the financlal year, as the pay date for
the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settfed within a
fortnight of the financial year end. The Quadriplegic Centre Board considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent
to its net fair value.

{k)} Amounts Receivable for Services {Holding Account)

The Quadriplegic Centre Board receives funding on an accrual basis $hat racognises the full annual cash and non-cash cost of
services. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and parily as an asset {Holding Account recelvable) that is accessible on the
emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover items such as leave entitlements and asset replacement.

See also note 14 "Service appropriations’ and note 17 'Amounts recelvable for services’.

{m} Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net reafisable vaiue.
Inventories not held for resale are valued at cost unless they are no longer required in which case they are valued at net realisable
value, (See Note 8 ' Inventories")

{n) Receivables

Receivables are recognised and carried at original involce amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).
The coliectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off. The
allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is ralsed when there is objective evidence that the Quadriplegic Centre Board will
not be able to collect the debts.

The carrying amount is equivalent fo fair value as it is due for settiement within 30 days from the date of recognition. (See note 2(h)
‘Financial instruments’ and note 16 'Receivables’)
{o} Payables

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Quadriplegic Centre Board hecomes obliged to make future payments as
a result of a purchase of assets or services. The camying amount is equivalent to fair value as they are generally settled within 30
days. See note 2(h) 'Financial instruments and note 23 'Payables”.
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{p} Provisions
Provisions are Habilifies of uncertan timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed af each balance sheet date. See note 24 ‘Provisions’.

Provisions - Employee Benefits

Annual Leave and Long Service Leave

The Yiability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the balance sheet date is
recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Annual and long service
leave expected lo be setffed more than 12 months after the end of the balance sheet date is measured at the present value of
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Leave liabllities are in respect of services provided by employees up to
the balance sheet date.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and safary levels inciuding non-salary
components such as employer superannuation contributions. In addition, the long service leave liahility also considers the experience
of employee depariures and periods of service.

The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the balance sheet date on national govermment bonds with terms
to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Quadriplegic Centre Board
does not have an unconditiona! right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Sick Leave
. Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the future will be greater than the entitlement that will
» accrue in the future.

Past history indicates that on avérage. sick leave taken each reparfing period is less than the entitiement accrued. This is expecled to
confinue in future periods. Accordingly. it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitfements will be used by employees and no liability
for unused sick leave entitlements is recogrised. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the Income Statement for
this leave as it is taken.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board {GESB) administers the foliowing superannuation schemes.

Employees may contribute fo the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed 1o new members or the Gold State
Superannuation Scheme (GSS), 2 defined benefit lump sum scherve also closed to hew members.

The Quadriplegic Centre Board has no liabilities under the Pension or the GSS Schemes. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension
Scheme and the unfunded GSS Scheme transfer benefits due to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed
by the Treasurer. All other GSS Scheme obligations are funded by concurrent confributions made by the Quadriplegic Cenire Board to
the GESB. The concurently funded part of the GSS Scheme is a defined contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all
liabilities in respect of the concurrently funded GSS Scheme obligations.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 Aptil 2007 who are not members of either the Pension or the GS§ Schemes became
non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16
April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). Both of these schemes are accumulation schemes. The
Quadriplegic Centre Board makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth
Government's Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. These contributions extinguish the liabfiity for superannuation
charges in respect of the WSS and GESBS Schemes.

The GESE makes all benefit paymenis in respect of the Pension and GSS Schemes, and i recouped by the Treasurer for the
employer's share .

(Sea also nofe 2 (q) 'Superannuation expense’)

Provisions - Qther
Employment on-cosis

Employment on-costs, including workers' compensation insurance, are not employee benefils and are recognised separately as
liabiliies and expenses when the employment fo which they relate has occurred. Employment oncosts are included as part of 'Cther
expenses’ and are not included as part of the Quadriplegic Centre Board's ‘Employee benefits expense’. Any related Hability is
included in ‘Employment on-costs provision'. (See note 11 'Other expenses’ and note 24 ‘Provisions'.)

{a) Superannuation Expense
The following elements are included in calculating the superannuation expense in the income Statement:

Defined contribution plans - Employer contributions paid to the GSS, the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), and the GESB
Super Scheme (GESBS).

{u} Comparative Figures
Comparative figuses are, where appropriate, reclassified io be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year.
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Note

Note

MNote

PITCHER PARTNERS

3 Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

Judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other faclors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

No judgements have been made in the process of applying accounting policies that have a significant efiect on the amounts
recognised in the financial slatements.

4 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key estimates and assumptions mads concerming the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet
date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjusiment to the carrying amounis of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year includa:

Empiloyee benefits provision

In estimating the non-cuirent long service leave liabilities, employees are assumed to leave the Quadriplegic Centre Board each year
on account of resignafion or retirement at 51%. This assumption was based on an analysis of the tumover rates exhibited by
employees over the past five years. Employees with leave benefits to which they are fully enlitied are assumed to take all available
leave uniformly over the following five years or to age 65 If eartier.

5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Quadriplegic Centre Board has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2006:

1) AASB 2005-0 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASE 4, AASB 1023, AASB 138 & AASBE 132]' (Financial
guarantee contracts). The amendment deals with the treaiment of financial guarantee contracts, credit insurance contracts, letters of
credit or credit derivative default contracts as either an “insurance contract” under AASE 4 'Insurance Contracts' or as a “financial
guarantee contract” under AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. The Quadriplegic Centre Board coes
not currently undertake these types of transactions, resulting in no financial impact in applying the Standard.

2) UIG interpretation 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease’ as tssued in June 2005. This interpretation deals
with arrangements that comprise a transaction or a series of linked transactions that may not involve a legal form of a lease but by
their nature are deemed to be leases for the purposes of applying AASB 117 ‘Leases'. At balance sheet date, the Quadriplegic Centre
Board has not entered into any arrangements as specified In tha Interpretation, resulting in no impact in applying the Interpretation.

3) UIG Interpretation 9 ‘Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives”. This Interpretation requires an embedded derivative that has been |
combined with a non-derivative to be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative in cerlain circumstances. At

balance sheet date, the Quadriplegic Centre Board has not entered into any contracts as specified in the Interpretation, resulting in no
Impact in applying the Interpretation.

The following Australian Accounting Standards and Intempretations are no applicable to the Quadriplegic Centre Board as they have
no impact or do not apply to not-for-profit entities:

AASB Standards

and Interpretation

AASH 2005-1 ‘Amendments fo Australian Accounting Standard’ (AASB 139 — Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast
intragroup transactions)

AASB 2005-§ ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASH 1 & AASB 138§
AASE 2006-1 ‘Amendments o Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1217

AASB 2006-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1045]

AASE 2006-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASE 134]'

AASB 2007-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASE Inferpretation 12 [AASE 1, AASE 117,
AASB 118, AASH 120, AASE 121, AASB 127, AASB 131 & AASB 139} — paragraph 9

UIG 5 ‘Righis to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds’
UiG s ‘Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market — Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment’

UG 7 ‘Applying the Restatement Approach under AASE 126 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies’
UIG & ‘Scope of AASB 2

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

Tie Quadriplegic Centre Board cannot early adopt an Ausiralian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting Interpretation uniess
specifically permitted by Ti 1101 *Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronounicements’. Gonsequently, the
Quadriplegic Centre Board has not applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and Austratian Accounting Interpretations
that have been issued but are not yet effective. These will be applied from their application date:

1) AASE 7 ‘Einancial Instruments: Disclosures' (including consequential amendments in AASB 2005-10 ‘Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards [AASB 152, AASE 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASE 4, AASB 023 & AASB
1038]"), This Standard requires new disclosures in relation o financial instruments. The Standard is considered to result in increased
disclosures, both quaniitative and qualitative of the Quadriplegic Centre Board's exposure to risks, enhanced disclosure regarding
components of the Quadriplegic Centre Board’s financial position and performance, and possible changes to the way of presenting
cerain items in the financial statements. The Quadriplegic Centre Board does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is
first applied. The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.
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Note
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2) AASB 2005-10 ‘Amendments fo Austrafian Accounting Standards (AASB 132, AASB 101, AASE 114, AASB 117, AASB 133,
AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASE 1023, & AASB 1038). The amendments are as a result of the issue of AASB 7 ‘Financial
Instruments: Disclosures’, which amends the financial instrument disclosure requirements in these standards. The Quadriplegic
Centre Board does not expact any financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The Standard is required to be applied to
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

3) AASB 101 'Presentation of Financial Statements’. This Standard was revised and issued in October 2006 so that AASS 101 has
the same requirements as JAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements' (as issued by the IASB) in respect of for-profit entities. The
Quadriplegic Centre Board is a not-for-profit entity and consequently does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first
applied. The Standard is required to be applied o annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

4) AASB 2007-4 '‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from ED 151 and Cther Amendmenis (AASE 1, 2, 3, 4, 5,
8, 7, 102, 107, 108, 110, 112, 114, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 127, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 139, 141,
1023 & 1038, This Standard infroduces policy options and modifies disclosures. These amendmenis arise as a resuli of the AASB
decision that, in principle, all options that currently exist under IFRSs should be included in the Australian squivalents to IFRSs and
additional Australian disclosures should be eliminated, other than those now considered particularly relevant in the Australian
reporting environment. The Department of Treasury and Finance has indicated that it will mandate to remove the policy options added
by this amending Standard. This will result in no impact as a consequence of application of the Standard. The Standard is required %o
be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007.

5) AASB 2007-5 ‘Amendment to Australian Accounting Standard — Inventories Held for Distribution by Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB
102)". This amendment changes AASB 102 ‘Inventorias’ so that inventories held for distribution by not-for-profit entities are measured
at cost, adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential. The Quadriplegic Centre Board does not have any inventories held
for distribution so does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The Standard is required to be applied to
annual reperting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007.

6) AASB Interpretation 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease [revised]’. This Interpretation was revised and
issued in February 2007 to specify that if a public-to-private service concession arrangement meets the scope requirements of AASE
Interpretation 12 'Service Concession Arcangements’ as issued in February 2007, it would not be within the scope of Interpretation 4.
At balance sheet date, the Quadriplegic Centre Board has not entered into any arrangements as specified in the Interpretation or
within the scope of interpretation 12, resulting in no impact when the Interpretation is first applied. The Interpretation is required to be
applied to annual reporting perieds beginning on or after 1 January 2008.

7) AASB Interprefation 12 ‘Service Concession Arrangemenis’. This Interpretation was issued in February 2007 and gives guidance
on the accounting by operators {usually a private sector enfity} for public-fo-private service cancession arrangements. It does not
address the accounting by grantors (usually 2 public sector entity). It is currently unclear as {o the application of the Interpretatien to
the Quadripiegic Centre Board if and when public-to-private service concession arrangements are entered into in the future. At
balance sheet date, the Quadriplegic Centre Board has not entered into any public-to-private service concession arangements
resulting in no impact when the Interpretatian is first applied. The Interpretation is required to be applied to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2008.

8) AASB Interpretation 129 ‘Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures [revised]’. This Interpratation was revised and issued in
February 2007 to be consistent with the requiremanis in AASB interpretation 12 ‘Service Concession Arrangements' as issued in
February 2007, Specific disclosures about service concession arrangements entered into are required in the netes accompanying the
financial statements, whether as a grantor or an operator, At balance sheet date, the Quadriplegic Centre Board has not entered into
any public-to-private service concession arrangements resulting in no impact when the Interpretation is first applied. The Interpretation
is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008.

The following Australian Accounting Standards and Inferpretations are net applicable 1o the Quadriplegic Centre Board as they have
no impact or do not apply to not-for-profit entities:

AASB Standards
and Interpretation
AASE B ‘Operating Segments’

AASB 1049 ‘Financial Reporting of General Government Sectors by Govemments’
AASB 20071 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 11 [AASB 2J

AASB 2007-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interprefation 12 [AASB 1, AASB 117,
AASB 118, AASE 120, AASB 121, AASB 127, AASB 131 & AASB 139] — paragraphs 110 B

AASE 2007-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASE 8 [AASB 5, AASB B, AASB 102, AASE
107, AASB 119, AASB 127, AASE 134, AASB 136, AASE 1023 & AASS 1038]

Interpretation 10 ‘Interim Financial Reperiing and Impairment’

Interpretation 11 'AASB 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions’

& Services of the Quadriplegic Centre Board

information about the Quadriplegic Centre Eoard's service and, the expenses and revenues which are reliably attributable to that
services are set out in Note 35, The key service of the Quadriplegic Centre Board is:

Chronic Illness and Continuing Care Services

The role of the Quadriplegic Centre is to assist persons with spinal cord injury, or a disease of the spinal cord, through the provision of
accommodation and & comprehensive programme of rehabilitative nursing, medical, and associated care supports, within the limits of
ESOUrces,
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2007 2006
Note 7 Employee henefits expense $ $
Salaries and wages (a) 6,178,534 5,367,735
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 501,338 440,535
6,677,873 5,808,270
{a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employees plus the fringe benefits tax
component.
{b) Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State (contributions paid).
Employment on-costs expense is included at note 11 'Other expenses’. The employment on-
costs llability is included at note 24 'Provisions’.
Note 8  Patient support costs
Medical supplies and services 235,149 218,619
Domestic charges 187,267 162,336
Fuel, light and power 140,937 177,047
Food supplies 227,308 223,700
780,661 781,702
Note @ Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation
Ll Computer equipment 6,446 9,604
Furniture and fitlings 58,917 57,700
Motor vehitles 2,259 2,259
. 67,822 69,563
Amortisation
Intangible assets 408 408
Total depreciation and amortisation 68,030 69,971
Note 10 Capitat user charge
- 5,437
The charge was a levy applied by Government for the use of its capital.
Note 11 Other expenses
Communications 10,762 41,088
Employment on-costs {a) 91,748 -
Insurance 3,098 18,188
Motor vehicle expenses 7,932 12,022
Printing and statlonery 17,645 12,650
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment expense 264,180 272,177
Other 116,952 68,463
512,317 384,599
{a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-cosis
liability associated with the recopnition of annual and long service leave liability is included at
note 24 'Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave
are employee bensfits and are not included in employment on-costs.
Note 12 Patient charges
Inpatient charges 1,448,862 1,430,682
Note 143 Otherrevenues
Recoveries 7,672 17,347
Use of hospital facilities 13,800 18,000
Other 138,118 53,728
158,588 B8.075
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
Far the year ended 30th June 2007

Note

Note

Note

Note

Note

Note

Note

14  Service appropriations

Appropriation revenue received during the year.
Service appropriations

Sarvice appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of services delivered. The
appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable
(holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in
leave liability during the year.

45 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand
Cash at bank - general

16 Receivables

Current

Patient fee debtors

Other receivables

Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables

GST receivable

See also note 2(n) 'Receivables’ and note 34 'Financial instruments’.
P

17 Amounts receivable for services
Current

Balance ai start of the year
Gredit to holding account

Less holding account drawdown
Balance at end of the year

This asset represents the non-cash component of service approprigtions which is held in a
holding account at the Department of Treasury and Finance. It is restricted in that it can only
pe used for asset replacement or payment of Jeave liability. See note 2(k) 'Amounts receivable
for services'.

48 Inventories
Current
Pharmaceutical stores - at cost
See note 2{m) 'Inventories’.

19 Other current assets

Other current assets

20 Property, plant and equipment

Computer equipment
Af cost
Accumulated depreciation

Fumiture and fittings
At cost

Accumulated depreciation:

Motor vehicles
At cost

Accumulated depreciation

Total of property, plant and equipment

PITCHER PARTNERS

2007 2006
$ $
6,505 456 5.981.732
200 100
1,328,802 1,028,220
1,328,002 1,028,320
8,851 10,508
4,520 152,810
{5,005) (5,005)
8,366 158,313
31,143 45,608
39,509 203,921
252,301 158,647
158,647 78,000
93,664 80,647
252,301 158,647
25,833 23,148
4,739 -
88,530 61,085
(56,0684} {48,618)
32,475 11,477
973,608 950,364
(604,526) {551,732)
368,952 398,832
57,739 57,739
{44,372) {42,113)
13,367 15,626
474,024 425,735




Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements

For

the year ended 30th June 2007

Note

Reconciliations
Recencillations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and
end of the current finansial year are set out below.

Computer equipment
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions

Depreciation

Internal transfer

Canying amount at end of year

Furniture and fittings

Carrying amount ai start of year
Additions

Depreciation

Carrying amount at end of year

Motor vehitles

Carrying amount at start of year
Depreciation

Carrying amount at end of year

Total property, plant and equipment
Carrying amount ai start of year
Additions .
Depreciation

Internal transfer

Carrylng amount at end of year

[

21 impalrment of Assets
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment, and intangible
agsets at 30 June 2007,

The Quadriplegic Centre Board held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful
life during the reporting period and at the balance date there were no Intangible assets not yet
avaitable for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2007 have been classified as assets held for sale or written off,

Note 22 Intangible assets

Computer software
At cos!
Accumulated amortisation

Reconciliation

Reconciliation of the carrying armount of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the
cusrent financial year is set out below.

Computer soffware

Carrying amount at start of year
Amortisation expense

Transfer between assel clagses
Canrying amount at end of year

Note 23 Payables

Current
Trade creditors
Accrued expanses

(See also note 2(o) ‘Payables' and note 34 'Financial Instruments')

PrtcHER PARTNERS

2007 2006

$ $
11,477 17,009
27,444 4,039
(B,445) {9,804)
- a3
32,475 T.477
368,632 405,486
29,267 50,848
(58,817) (57,700)
368,982 398,632
15,626 17,885
(2,259) {2,259)
13,367 15,628
425,735 440,380
56,714 54,885
(67,622) (69,553)
- 33
414,824 425,735
1,360 1,360
(848) {441)
511 919

910 1,360
{408) {408)

- (33)

511 919
176,606 196,668
5,437 5,437
182.043 202,105




Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2007

Note 24 Provisions 2007 2006
$ $
Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual [eave (a) 666,721 602,177
Long service leave (b} 207,337 166,728
Superannuation 70,239 66,022
Other provision
Employment on-costs {c) - 13.701
944 297 B48,626
Non-gurrent
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b) 110,865 101,218
Gratuities - -
Superannuation 10,136 2,109
121,001 110,325
Total Provisicns 1,065,298 958,051
{8) Annual leave liabilitles and time off In liet leave liabilities have been classified as current
as there is ho unconditional right to defer seftlement for at least 12 months after balance sheet
. date. Assessments indicate that actual setflement of the liabilities will occur as follows:
Within 12 months of balance sheet date 582,348 451,634
More than 12 months after balance sheet date 84,373 160,543
. 666,721 602177
{t) Long service lsave liabiliies have been classified as current where there is Ro
unconditional right to defer sefflement for at least 12 months afier balance sheet date.
Assessments indicate that actual setttement of the liabilities wifl occur as follows:
Within 12 months of balance sheet date 24,735 22,470
Mare than 12 months aiter balarnice sheet date 185,602 144,256
207,337 166,726
(c) The setilement of annual and long service leave liabilities give rise to the payment of
employment on-cosis Including workess compensation premiums. The provision Is the present
value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the
discount {finance cost), is included at nota 11 'Cther expenses’.
Note 25 Other liabifities
Current
Acerued salaries 225,488 168,948
Note 26 Contributed equity
Equity ropresents the restdual interest in the net assets of the Quadriplegic Ceritre Board. The
Govetnment holds the equity interest in the Quadriplegic Centre Board on behalf of the
community.
Balance &t start of the year 156,000 156,000
Contributions by owners - -
Distributions 0 owners - -
Balance at end of year 156,000 158,000
(a) Capital Contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfers of
het assets from other Stale government agencies have been designated as contriputions by
owness in Treasurer's Instruction 855 "Contribution by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public
Sector Entities' and are credited directly to equity.
(b) UIG Interpretation 1038 'Confribution by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector
Entities' requires that where the transferee accounts for a transter as a coniribution by owner,
the transteror must account for the transfer as a distribution to owners. Consequently, non-
discretionary {non-reciprocal) transfers of net assets to other State government agencies are
distribution to owners and are debited directly to equity.
(€} T1655 requires non-reciprocal transfers of net assets to Government to be eccounted fora
distribution to owners.
Note 27 Accumulated surplusi{deficiency)
Balance at start of year 353,686 (88,030)
Result for the period 84,204 441,718

Balance st end of year 437,880

# PITCHER PARTNERS




Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2007

Note 28 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

a}  Reconciliation of cash

Cash asseis at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled
to the related items in the Balance Sheet as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents {see note 15)
Must Equal Balance Sheet 07
b}  Reconciliation of net cash flows to net cost of services used in operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities {Cash Flow Statement)

Increasef{decraase) in assets:
GST receivable

Other current receivables
Inventories

Prepayments

Decreasel/(increase) in liabilities:
Payables

Accrued salaries

Current provisions

Non-current provisions

Nonh-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 9)

Capital user charge paid by Department of Heailth (note 10)
Adjustment for other non-cagh items

Net cost of services (Income Statement)

c}  Notional cash flows

Service appropriations as per Income Statement
Less notional cash flows:
Capital uses charge
Accrual appropriations
Other non cash adjustments to service appropriations

Cash Flows from State Government as per Cash Flow Statement

At the reporting date, the Quadriplegic Centre Board had fully drawn on all financing facilities,
details of which are disclosed in the financial statements.

Note 23 Remuneration of auditor

Remuneration ta the Auditor General {or the financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators

Note 30 Events occurring after balance sheet date

There were no events occurring after the balance sheet date which had significant financial
effects on these financial statements.

Note 31 Related bodles

A telated body is a body which receives more than half its funding and resources from the
Quadriplegic Centre Board and is subject to operational contral by the Quadripiegic Gentre

The Quadriplegic Centre Board have no relaled bodies during the financial year.

Note 32 Affiliated bodies

An affiliated body Is a body which receives more than half its funding and resources from the
Quadriplegic Centre Board and I8 not subject to operational centrol by the Quadriplegic Centre

The Quadriplegic Centre Board have no related bodies during the financial yaar,

PITCHER PARTNERS

2007 2008

$ $
1,329,002 1,028,320
(6,054,410) (5,468,136)
(14,465) {11,336)
{149,047) 157,631
2,685 4,670
4,730 {109,822)
20,062 (80,097)
(55,540 {(17,297)
(95,671) (33,122)
(10,676) 87,464
{68,020) {69,671)
- {5,437)

1 5437
{6,421.252) {5.540,016)
6,505,456 5,081,732
. {5,437)
{03,654) (80,647}

- 5,437
{63,654) {80,647}
8,411,802 5,507,085
14,000 13,000




Quadriplegic Centre Board
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2007

Note 33 Explanatory Statement

(A) Significant variances beMeen actuaj results for 2006 and 2007

Significant variations between actual results with the corresponding items of the preceding reporting period are
detailed below. Significant variations are those greater than 10% or that are 4% cr more of the current year's Tota!

Cost of Services.

Note 2007 2006 Variance
Actual Actual

$ ] $

Expenses
Employee benefils expense (a) B,677.873 5,808,270 868,603
Fees for visiting medical practitioners {b) 56,014 57,451 {537)
Patient support costs {c) 790,661 781,702 8,959
Depreciation and amortisation expense (d} 68,030 59,971 {1,941)
Capital user charge (e} - 5,437 (5,437)
Other expenses 6] 512,317 384,599 127,718

Income

Patient charges (@) 1,448,882 1,430,682 18,180
Interest revenue (h) 76,093 47,667 28,436
Other revenues (i} 169,588 89,075 70,513
4 Service appropriations i3] 6,505,458 §,981,732 523,724

Insert reasons for major variance for each applicable expense & revenue items: example as below

(a) Emplovee benefits expense s
Employee benefits expense increased for a number of reasons; Alignment of pay rates for staff on the
Quadriplegic Centre Award with those of the public health settor, Significant adjustments and back pay {o aliied
health workers: Increasing reliance on agency staffing; Increase in staff to accommodate a ventilator dependant
resident that is subject to specific funding.

(e} Cavital user charge
No longer applicable.

(fy Other expenses
Due to the refund of previous deposit premiums to Risk Gover there was no workers compensation expense for
the 2006 year.

{n) Interest revenue
A larger cash balance was carfied forward during the year.

(i) Other revenues
Includes new funding for a ventilator dependant patient.

) Service appropriations
Specific Increase in recurrent funding to facilitate the increse to pay rates for staff on the Quadriplegic Gentre
Award.

(B} Significant varlations between estimates and actual resuits for 2007

Significant variations between the estimates and actual resulls for income and expenses are detailed below.
Significant variations are considered o be those greater than 10% of the budget estimates. There were no significant

2007 2007
Note Actuat Estimates Variante
H $ $
Operating #xpenses
Employee benefits expense E)] 6,678 6,577 101
Other goods and services (b} 1,428 1,313 115
Total expenses 8,106 7,890 216
l.ess: Revenues {c) {1,688) (1,575) (119
Net cost of services 6,421 6,315 106

PITCHER PARTNERS
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AUDITOR GENERAL

INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION
To the Parliament of Western Australia

QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE BOARD
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

I have audited the accounts, financial statements, controls and key perforniance indicators of
the Quadriplegic Centre Board.

The financial statemients comprise the Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2007, and the Income
Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity and Cash Flow Statement for the year then
ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory Notes.

The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency.

Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and
the key performance indicators. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining
internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
and key performance indicators that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and complying with the Financial
Management Act 2006 and other relevant written law.

Summary of my Role

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on
the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators based on my audit. This
was done by testing selected samples of the audit evidence. I believe that the audit evidence
I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basts for my audit opinion. Further
information on my audit approach is provided in my audit practice statement. Refer
"http://www.audit.wa.gov.au/pubs/Audit-Practice-Statement. pdf".

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements
and key performance indicators is error free. The term “reasonable assurance” recognises
that an audit does not examine all evidence and every transaction. However, my audit
procedures should identify errors or omissions significant enough to adversely affect the
decisions of users of the financial statements and key performance indicators.
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Quadriplegic Centre Board
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for the year ended 30 June 2007

Audit Opinion
In my opinion,

(i) the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the
financial position of the Quadriplegic Centre Board at 30 June 2007 and its
financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. They are in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Treasurer’s Instructions;

(i1) the controls exercised by the Board provide reasonable assurance that the receipt,
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property,
and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions;
and

(iii) the key performance indicators of the Board are relevant and appropriate to help
users assess the Board’s performance and fairly represent the indicated
performance for the year ended 30 June 2007.

e

JOHN DOYLE
ACTING AUDITOR GENERAL
21 September 2007
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